Augsburg University Idun

Theses and Graduate Projects

5-8-1996

Passive Victims of Peer Bullying and Teaching Staff's Response to Them

Kenneth E. Maher *Augsburg College*

Follow this and additional works at: https://idun.augsburg.edu/etd Part of the Social Work Commons

Recommended Citation

Maher, Kenneth E., "Passive Victims of Peer Bullying and Teaching Staff's Response to Them" (1996). *Theses and Graduate Projects*. 258. https://idun.augsburg.edu/etd/258

This Open Access Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by Idun. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses and Graduate Projects by an authorized administrator of Idun. For more information, please contact bloomber@augsburg.edu.



MASTERS IN SOCIAL WORK THESIS

Kenneth E. Maher

MSW Thesis

Passive Victims of Peer Bullying and Teaching Staff's Response to Them

Thesis Maher

Augsburg College George Sverdrup Library Minneapolis, MN 55454



MASTERS IN SOCIAL WORK THESIS

Kenneth E. Maher

Passive Victims of Peer Bullying and Teaching Staff's Response to Them

Passive Victims of Peer Bullying and Teaching Staff's Responses to Them

By

Kenneth E. Maher

A Thesis Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for

the Master of Social Work Degree

Department of Social Work

in the Graduate School

Augsburg College

Minneapolis, Minnesota

May, 8 1996

Augsburg College George Sverdrup Library Minneapolis, MN 55454

MASTER OF SOCIAL WORK AUGSBURG COLLEGE MINNEAPOLIS, MINNESOTA

CERTIFICATE OF APPROVAL

This is to certify that the Master's thesis of:

Kenneth E. Maher

has been approved by the Examining Committee for the thesis requirements for

the Master of Social Work Degree.

Date of Oral Presentation: May, 8 1996

Openan Lin Thesis Committee:

Thesis Advisor

Thesis Reader

DEDICATION

The author of this thesis owes many thanks to family and friends for their support and encouragement during this long thesis process. I wish to dedicate this thesis to my family and friends who teamed up with me to bring to fruition this goal of mine.

First, I want to thank Jesus Christ without whom I would not have had the desire and opportunity to reach my goal of completing this thesis.

Second, I want to thank my wife (Kristine Maher) for her love, unselfishness and support in my completing this thesis. Kristine, more than anyone else, knows what I went through to reach this moment and I couldn't have done this without her. This is just as much her thesis as it is mine.

Third, I want to thank my mother (Carol Barron) for always believing in me and encouraging me to pursue my highest goals.

Fourth, I want to thank my thesis advisor (Rosemary Link) and my thesis readers (Vicki Olson and Leo Bulger) for their advice and endurance in leading me through the thesis process.

Lastly, I want to thank my close family and friends for their love and concern for me these last three years. Thank you Todd Maher, Danielle Maher, Michelle Maher, Mr. C., Leora Nichols, Brooks Larson, Shelly Larson, Dick Barron, Gwen Larson and Bob Larson. Your smiles and laughter have helped me through some of the toughest days.

ABSTRACT OF THESIS

Passive Victims of Peer Bullying and Teaching Staff's Responses to Them

Study Focus: Research

This study explored teaching staff's ability to identify passive victims of peer bullying, the strategies they use to build up a victim's self-esteem, the strategies they use to teach passive victims assertiveness skills and their views and opinions concerning bullying. Research indicated that passive victims of peer bullying tend to have lower self-esteem and don't have the skills needed to protect themselves when bullied. Since a majority of bullying happens at school, teaching staff have the best opportunity to intervene when bullying occurs.

A self-administered questionnaire was completed by 45 teachers, educational assistants and specialist/support staff at a particular elementary school in Minneapolis. Results of the questionnaire indicated that teaching staff who completed this questionnaire have excellent knowledge in how to identify passive victims and excellent knowledge in the encouragement of self-esteem and assertiveness skills in passive victims. Although, the researcher did have a question as to the consistency of procedures followed by all teaching staff concerning the handling of aggressive incidents at this particular school. The researcher also questioned what seemed to be minimization, by the respondents, of the overall incidence of bullying that may be occuring at this school.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Chapter 1--Introduction

Statement of the Problem	1
Research Questions	2
Reasons for the Study	3
Terminology	4
Summary	5
•	

Chapter 2--Review of Literature

Characteristics and Attributes	6
Family Influence	8
Incidence of Bullying	9
Responses of Teachers	12
Theoretical/Conceptual Framework	13
Resiliency Theory	14
Self-Concept	16
Summary	18

Chapter 3---Methodology

Research Questions Restated	20
Subject Selection	20
Research Design	21
Operational Definition of Terms/Concepts	22
Data Collection	22
Protection of Participants	23
Method of Analysis of Data	24
Study Limitations	24
Summary	25

Chapter 4--Presentation of Findings

26
27
28
29
30
31
31
32
33

Improving the Self-esteem in Passive Victims	34
Improving Assertiveness Skills in Passive Victims	35
Bullying Leads to Poor School Performance and Truancy	36
Views on Where Most Bullying Incidents Occur	37

Chapter 5--Discussion

Teaching Staff's Responses to and Recognition of Passive Victin	ns 38
Strategies and Techniques used with Passive Victims	42
Teaching Staff's Views and Opinions Concerning Bullying	46
Summary	50

Chapter 6--Conclusion

Implications for Teaching Staff	52
Implications for Social Work Practice	55
Recommendations for Future Research	55

Appendices

Appendix A:	Minneapolis Review Board Approval Letter	58
Appendix B:	Augsburg IRB Approval Letter	59
Appendix C:	Principal Letter	60
Appendix D:	Cover Letter	61
Appendix E:	Survey Instrument	62
	-	

References

[,] 66

Chapter 1

Introduction

Statement of the Problem

Bullying among schoolchildren is an age old phenomenon that most people can relate to as either a bully or the victim of a bully. Although bullying is an act of aggression involving two individuals, the bully and the victim, research has focused its understanding towards the aggressive behavior of the bully (Perry, et. al., 1988). Research for this paper will focus on passive victims of peer bullying in a school setting and teaching staffs' responses to them.

This topic is significant because passive victims of peer bullying "are likely to perceive school as an unhappy setting" (Hoover & Hazler, 1991, p 214). This unhappy perception of school plus the constant bullying passive victims endure can lead to truancy, poor grades, school phobia and at its worst, suicide (Batsche & Knoff, 1994). Studies show that bullying is a problem in most schools - much research has been conducted with boys in countries outside the United States such as Scandinavia, Japan, Australia and Norway (Olweus, 1994; O'Moore, 1988) . Since the mid-1980's however, more research has been conducted with girls and in the United States. Anywhere from 5% of school children from a study in the United Kingdom (Lowenstein, 1978) to 22% of parents of schoolchildren in a study conducted in an Inner London Education Authority survey (O'Moore, 1988) report that bullying is a problem. Very little is known about passive victims of peer bullying. Information gathered from the literature review and results from the survey instrument will be used to discuss the characteristics of passive victims, how teaching staff recognize passive victims, the family background passive victims tend to come from, the percentages of victims represented in the schools and teaching staffs' responses to victims of peer bullying.

Research Questions

This research explored the perceptions of teaching staff toward passive victims of peer bullying and gathered their views and opinions concerning bullying. Information gathered was used to increase the knowledge base concerning passive victims, to help in the identification of passive victims and to identify the strategies used by teaching staff to increase the self-esteem and assertiveness skills in passive victims. The two research questions studied are:

- 1) How do teaching staff recognize a passive victim of peer bullying?
- 2) Can strategies be identified whereby teaching staff can improve the self-esteem and assertiveness skills of passive victims?

This project is concerned with two groups of people: 1) elementary school teaching staff who instruct passive victims of peer bullying, and 2) children who are passive victims of peer bullying (age range 6 - 16 years). The focus of the research is teaching staffs' responses towards passive victims of peer bullying. As reported by Batsche and Knoff (1994) "response of school personnel to bullying is at best disappointing" (Batsche & Knoff, p 170, 1994). More than 60% of victims report that school personnel respond poorly to bullying at school (Batsche & Knoff, 1994). Reasons behind school staff's poor response rate to bullying will be discussed in the review of literature.

Research shows that victims of peer bullying suffer from lower self-esteem and lack the assertiveness skills to defend themselves in bullying situations (Hoover & Hazler, 1991; Perry, et. al., 1988; Boulton & Smith, 1994). Research also shows that the school setting (classrooms, hallways and playgrounds) is where most bullying incidents occur (Batsche, et. al., 1994; & Sharp, & Smith, 1991). It is the researcher's belief that since teaching staff spend most of their working day with children in the school, they would be the individuals who would have the best opportunity to mediate bullying incidents. Therefore it is important

to learn what teaching staff know about passive victims of peer bullying and how they go about encouraging and helping these children.

It is the desire of the researcher to encourage teaching staff in what they are already doing in regards to helping passive victims of peer bullying. The researcher wishes to also offer information that may be new to teaching staff and social workers concerning the encouragement of passive victims of peer bullying.

Reasons For The Study

There are many reasons for studying passive victims of peer bullying and teaching staffs' responses to them. Five of these are:

1) Teaching staff are likely to be the first individuals to respond to bullying situations at school because they spend a majority of their day in direct contact with children.

2) Passive victims of peer bullying may tend to be overlooked by teaching staff. Teaching staff tend to focus their attention and energy towards aggressive children since they cause the most classroom and playground disturbance (Perry, et. al., 1988).

3) Children who are bullied by their peers in grade school tend to be bullied into junior high school (Perry, et. al., 1988). This long-term bullying can and does lead to a negative school experience.

5) Limited research has been conducted in the United States concerning passive victims of peer bullying and teaching staff's responses to them (Hoover & Hazler, 1991). Most research has been done in Scandinavian

countries and "work carried out in Scandinavia by Olweus (1987) suggests that data from one country cannot be freely generalized to another" (Boulton & Smith, 1994, p 316).

Results from this study will be used to inform teaching staff of the characteristics of passive victims of peer bullying and of the ways they can build the self-esteem and assertiveness skills in passive victims.

Use of this information may result in: 1) teaching staff who are able to recognize passive victims of peer bullying early on in the school year, 2) teaching staff who have the knowledge to build up the self-esteem and assertiveness skills in passive victims and 3) children who do not get labeled as a victim by their peers and then get bullied from year-to-year. Overall results could be a more positive classroom environment and school atmosphere for children.

Terminology

The definition of *bullying* that will be used was first defined by Dan Olweus. "A student is being bullied when he or she is exposed, repeatedly and over time, to negative actions on the part of one or more students" (Olweus, p 1173, 1994). A negative action is when someone intentionally inflicts, or attempts to inflict, injury or discomfort upon another. Negative actions can be carried out by physical contact, by words, or in other ways, such as making faces or obscene jestures, and intentional exclusion from a group. In order to use the term bullying, there should also be an imbalance of strength; this means that the victim is physically weaker than the bully (Olweus, 1994).

There are two types of victims recognized in the research, the *passive victim* (defined above) and the *provocative victim*.

A passive victim is a child that does not defend him/herself when bullied. He or she does not have the physical strength or verbal abilities to stick up for him/herself.

A provocative victim is a child that instigates confrontations with other children and does things that irritate them (Olweus, 1994).

A victim of peer bullying is a boy or girl who is being bullied repeatedly and over time by one or more peers.

A *bully* is a boy or girl who inflicts negative actions, repeatedly and over time, towards a victim.

Teaching staff are all the adults who instruct children in the school. Teaching staff include classroom teachers, educational assistants, special education teachers, chapter 1 teachers, and special subject teachers (physical education, art, foreign languages, science, music, media and English as a second language).

Assertiveness skills means the resources a victim has to protect (stand up for) him/herself when being bullied.

Summary

The focus of this research is to gather information concerning teaching staff's responses to passive victims of peer bullying in a particular elementary school and to identify techniques or strategies teaching staff can use to improve the self-esteem and assertiveness skills in passive victims.

The paper will continue with a review of literature, a description of the research methodology, a review of the research and findings, a discussion of the research results and a concluding section discussing implications for teaching staff, implications for mental health professionals and avenues for future research. The appendix includes the institutional review board approval letters, principal letter, cover letter and survey instrument.

Chapter 2

Review of Literature

This next section of the paper will report on the previous research that addressed the topic of bullying and in particular victims of peer bullying. Specific areas reported on are the characteristics and attributes of bullied children, the influence of family on bullied children, the incidence of bullying in schools, the responses of teachers to bullying and bullied children and the integration of the theoretical/conceptual framework of resiliency and selfconcept.

Previous research conducted with victims of peer bullying did not separate passive victims and provocative victims. Therefore, the information gathered in this review of literature will report on both provocative and passive victims of peer bullying.

Characteristics and Attributes

Most research tends to agree on the characteristics of victims of peer bullying. These characteristics seem to apply to both boys and girls but it needs to be said that far more research has been done concerning boys.

In general bullied children (ages 6 - 16 years) tend to be more anxious, insecure, cautious, sensitive and quiet than other students (Olweus, 1994). When bullied by other students, victims commonly react by crying and withdrawal. Victims also suffer from low self-esteem and tend to have a negative view of themselves and their situation. These characteristics may be inherent in victims or they may be brought on by the length of time victims are bullied (Olweus, 1977, 1978). Victims tend to be bullied over several years. Research conducted by Olweus (1994) studied some of the long-term effects of bullying on victims. Results from the Olweus study showed that victims do not think of themselves as attractive, see themselves as stupid and as failures. They tend to

feel lonely and abandoned and remark that they do not even have one friend at school. Victims are not aggressive or teasing in thier behavior, and if they are boys, are likely to be physically weaker than other boys (Olweus, 1994; Lagerspetz et. al., 1982; Perry, et. al., 1988).

One of the characteristics of bullied children not well studied in the literature is the factor of race or ethnic background. Studies that have tested for the factor of racism in bullying have mostly been done outside the United States. Studies show that bullied children being called racist names or being picked on because of their race is significant but much less frequent than being called nasty names in other ways, physically hurt, threatened or having rumors spread about them (Whitney & Smith, 1993).

In a study conducted by Siann (1993), eight of 20 teachers interviewed mentioned racism or ethnic group as a factor or cause of bullying. Whitney & Smith (1993) surveyed 6000 students and reported that 14.8% of junior/middle school students and 9.4% of secondary students commented on being called "nasty names about my colour or race". Research conducted by Moran (1993) stated that 18% of the Asian children studied reported disliking other children because they called them racist names, no White children made this comment. Tizard (1988) surveyed Inner London Schools and discovered that around a third of students surveyed reported being teased because of their colour (Moran, et al., 1993).

Studies tended to disagree about physical attributes that victims have and if they contribute to bullying. Olweus' (1978, 1993) and Roland's (1983) studies showed that physical characteristics (external deviations) in victims of peer bullying did not contribute to bullying. Although, studies by Bjorkquist (1982) have shown that obesity and handicaps were more common among Finnish victims of peer bullying. It is important to note that the Olweus and Roland

studies were conducted in Sweden while the Bjorkquist study was conducted in Finland. Differences may be due to the fact that the studies were done in different countries. It is important to not generalize findings from one country to another because of the different cultural lifestyles and influences represented by the subjects tested.

Family Influence

Researchers tended to agree about the "typical" family of victims of peer bullying. "In terms of cohesion or emotional closeness, victims' families seem overly involved or enmeshed" (Oliver, et. al., p200, 1994). This overprotection by parents can lead to an inability of victims to develop coping skills on their own (Batsche & Moore, 1994). It is reasonable to assume that such tendencies toward overprotection by parents are both a cause and a consequence of the bullying (Olweus, 1978, 1993).

It is interesting to note that even though the parents of victims seem to be overprotective, research has shown that these parents seem unaware of what was happening to their child at school. Studies done with parents of victims reported that parents are largely ignorant of, or chose to ignore, what was happening to their child at school. Approximately 55% of parents of victims in the junior school as compared with 35% in the senior classes had shown interest in what was happening to their children at school (O'Moore, 1988). A reason for the large percentage of parents who either chose to ignore or are ignorant of what was happening to their child at school could be because of the relationship they have with their child's school teachers. The relationship could be strained, therefore leading to a lack of communication and indifference to the bullying that happens at school.

Incidence of Bullying

Research shows that bullying is a concern and a considerable problem in many countries. Some of the countries that have conducted surveys to assess bullying problems are: Finland, England, United States, Norway, Canada, Netherlands, Japan, Ireland, Spain and Australia. Data from these countries have been collected by administering the Bully/Victim Questionnaire developed by Olweus (1978) and by interviewing both students and teachers in schools. The Bully/Victim Questionnaire is given to students and determines the extent to which children in a school feel they are bullied and the extent to which children bully others. Interviews are conducted by the researchers and inquire about the amount and kind of bullying happening at a particular school.

Studies tended to focus on bullying in boys, although, in the mid 1980's bullying in girls became a topic of study. Ages of children studied ranged from seven to sixteen years old. Overall statistics from Norway show that bullying tends to be higher in younger children: 17.5% for boys and 16% for girls in grade two (7-8 years old). As children get older the percentage of bullying decreases: 14.5% for boys and 12.2% for girls in grade 3, 13% for boys and 11.5% for girls in grade 4, 10.6% for boys and 8.9% for girls in grade 5, 8.4% for boys and 5.5% for girls in grade 6, 8% for boys and 3.35% for girls in grade 7, 7.7% for boys and 3.5% for girls in grade 8 and 6.4% for boys and 3% for girls in grade 9 (Olweus, 1994). The N for boys = 42,390 and the N for girls = 40,940. The decrease in bullying as children get older could be due to victims changing schools or growing physically and socially more mature. Changing schools can be a new and better start for some victims and the development of assertiveness skills can be learned as the victims become older.

Research done in the United States by Perry, et. al. (1988) studied 165 children (male and female) ages 8 -12. A questionnaire (Peer Nomination

Inventory) administered to the children required them to name classmates who fit certain victimization descriptors. Results showed that about 10% of the sample may be characterized as "extreme victims". To be extremely victimized (bullied) would mean that a child was bullied 2- 3 times a week (Perry, et. al., 1988).

Studies from the United Kingdom and Ireland show varying degrees of bullying. The relationship to truancy and bullying in schools was studied by Ken Reid (1984). Reid learned from his research in South Wales that no fewer than 15% and 19% of his sample said that they first missed school and later continued to miss school for reasons associated with bullying (O'Moore, 1988).

Some United Kingdom estimates by Lowenstein (1978) found an incidence of 5% bullying among boys aged 11 - 16 years old. This study contrasted with an inner London Education Authority survey which found 22% of the parents of 11year-olds stated bullying as a problem for their children (O'Moore, 1988). In contrast to bullying in the Scandinavian schools, bullying in the Irish schools seemed to be more varied (O'Moore, 1988).

As was said at the beginning of this chapter, much research concerning bullied children has been conducted with boys. The same can be said with research conducted with bullies. The earliest studies focused their research on boys who bullied their peers. It was not until the mid 1980's that studies concerning bullying was conducted with girls. The research conducted with girls, when compared to boys, showed differences in how girls and boys bully other children. The next few paragraphs discuss some of those differences between boys and girls.

Studies by Olweus (1994) showed that boys who bully other children tend to use more direct means to bully and intimidate other children while girls tend to use more indirect means to bully other children. Direct means of bullying would include hitting, kicking, taking things from the victim and threatening with

physical harm. Indirect means of bullying would include social isolation, intentional exclusion from the peer group, slandering, spreading rumors and manipulation of friendship relationships.

Research conducted in the Bergen study reported that a larger percentage of boys participate in bullying than girls (Olweus, 1994). Research showed that a great majority of boys, more than 80%, were bullied by other boys and that boys also carried out a large percentage of the bullying (60%) that girls were subjected too. Boulton and Underwood studied victims of peer bullying and found that "65% of bullying is perpetrated by boys, 15% by girls, and 19% by boys and girls" (Batsche & Knoff, 1994, p168). A study conducted by Olweus reported similiar results in that "more than 60% of girls bullied in grades 5-7 were bullied by boys only and an additional 15 to 20% were bullied by both boys and girls" (Batsche & Knoff, 1994, p168).

The above results show that girls don't bully other students as much as boys do and that girls tend to use more indirect means of bullying, this does not mean that bullying by girls is less important. The effects of bullying on the victim are still the same and needs to be dealt with as they are with boys who bully.

Another point to mention is whether there is a greater incidence of bullying in one type of school than another. In other words does class size, school size (structural factors), frustration or failures in school or location of a school in an urban or rural area affect the incidence of bullying? Olweus (1994) found little to support the view that bullying emerged as a result of structural factors in the school or classroom or as a result of frustration or failures in the school. In contrast, Roland (1983) as well as Stephenson and Smith (1987), believed that schools (structural factors) do make a difference. The findings indicated that the larger the class and the larger the school, the greater the problem of bullying tends to be.

11 Augsburg College Library

Schools that have lower incidences of bullying have made a conscious effort to combat the bullying behavior of children. Special programs are established to help children who are bullies and those who are bullied (Floyd, 1985; Batsche & Knoff, 1994). Specific steps are taken to deal with bullying that include parental/guardian involvement and consequences for the bully. Most importantly though is that the school staff and students have an overall understanding, made explicit in the school policies, that bullying is inappropriate and will be dealt with accordingly (Olweus, 1994).

Responses of Teachers

Little research has been conducted concerning teacher's responses to bullying. As reported by Batsche and Knoff (1994) "response of school personnel to bullying is, at best, disappointing" (p 170). Results of research show that more than 60% of victims report that school faculty respond only "sometimes or never", or try to put a stop to bullying "only once in a while or almost never" (Boulton & Underwood, 1992; Hoover, Oliver & Hazler, 1992; Olweus, 1991). These results have been collected at different times and in different countries. A study done with bullies confirmed that teachers only intervened to a modest extent. Seventy percent of bullies in the junior grades and 90% of bullies in the senior grades stated that their class teachers had never approached them about their bullying behavior (O'Moore, 1988).

Some reasons why teaching personnel may not respond to bullying are: First, 25% of teachers feel that it is sometimes helpful to ignore the problem (Stephenson and Smith, 1988). Since bullying often occurs in the form of verbal intimidation, isolation and exclusion, teachers may view these behaviors as less serious than physical assults. Second, the social (passive) skills of the victims may be such that teachers are less motivated to intervene (Batsche & Knoff, 1994). Victims tend to be shy and quiet, therefore making it difficult for a teacher

to find out who bullied the victim. Teachers are preoccupied with classroom and educational tasks and may not have the length of time or take the time to find out from the victim what happened. Third, interviews with victims show that children who do not tell of being bullied do so out of fear of reprisal. It seems that a portion of victims think that school personnel will either not be sympathetic to their problem or will not be able to protect them (Boulton & Underwood, 1992).

Overall, studies show that in order for bullying to be reduced significantly, schools must send a strong and clear message to students and families that bullying is inappropriate and will not be tolerated in school (Batsche & Knoff 1994). The implementation of a comprehensive plan designed to teach skills that promote positive relationships between students, limit aggressive behavior and teach prosocial behavior will be needed to send this message about the negative affects of bullying. More importantly however, is the realization by the school staff that bullying is a pervasive problem and that the only way to combat this problem is to support the development and implementation of a comprehensive plan against bullying.

Theoretical/Conceptual Framework

Two central theories have contributed to the framework of this study. The theories of resiliency and identity (ie. self-concept) were alluded to in the literature but never studied in depth. This is one of the weaknesses of the literature gathered so far; minimal integration of theoretical background. In this section of the paper resiliency theory and self-concept will be explained and integrated into the phenomenon of bullied children. By integrating the theories of resiliency and identity (ie. self-concept), the researcher offers a theoretical foundation to the subject of victims of peer bullying.

Resiliency Theory

There are many definitions of resiliency. Osborn (1990) defined resiliency as "children who are vulnerable to an adverse outcome yet achieve competence" (p23). Mastin (1990) defined resiliency as "a process, capacity or outcome of successful adaptation despite challenges or threatening circumstances" (p426). "Rutter (1985) viewed resiliency similarly but emphasized more of the individuals sense of self: "firstly, a sense of self-esteem and self-confidence; secondly, a belief in one's own self-efficacy and ability to deal with change and adaptation; thirdly, a repertoire of social problem-solving approaches" (Radke-Yarrow, p582, 1993). Overall, a person is resilient when he/she successfully adapts to his/her environment despite risk. Resiliency has been studied for a number of years and researchers have identified characteristics in resilient children that enable them to become competent and successful in surviving the stressful situations in their lives.

Many of the characteristics resilient children display can be encouraged and taught to children who are vulnerable. Some resilient characteristics and factors are:

an active, evocative outlook to solving life's problems, (2) an inclination to perceive their experiences constructively, even if they caused pain and suffering, (3) the ability to gain other people's attention,
 a strong desire to use faith in order to maintain a positive vision of a meaningful life, (5) having positive expectations, (6) having an interest in hobbies and other activities and (7) having a caring adult take an interest in a child's life. (Werner, 1984; Wyman, et. al., 1993).

All of the above characteristics would help to build up a child's self-esteem and assist in giving them the resources needed to deal positively with stressful situations.

Victims of peer bullying have many of the characteristics of vulnerable children. Victims tend to already have lower self-esteem and lack the assertiveness skills to protect themselves. Other risk factors in the lives of victims like poverty, death, abuse, physical disabilities and parents who parent inappropriately (Tarwater, 1993) would compound the vulnerability of the victim and decrease the chances of his/her achieving resiliency.

Teachers work with children during the school day and are in a position to observe bullying behavior since most bullying occurs at school. It is the researcher's opinion that teachers have the best opportunity to identify bullied children and provide experiences for bullied children to become resilient.

"Given the incredible stresses the family system is now experiencing, school has become a vital refuge for a growing number of children, serving as a protective shield to help children withstand the multiple

vicissitudes that they can expect of a stressful world" (Benard, p45, 1993). Werner (1990) in her research found that among the most frequently encountered positive role model in the lives of the children in Kauai, outside the family circle, was a favorite teacher. For the resilient youngster a special teacher was not just an instructor for academic skills, but also a confidant and positive model for personal identification. Sarah Moskovitz's (1983) 30-to-40 year follow up study of childhood survivors of the Nazi Holocaust found similiar results. Moskovitz found that the one person to be the most influential in the lives of the childhood survivors was the nursery school teacher who provided caring and warmth and taught them compassion. Similarly, Garmezy (1991) talks about a kindly concerned teacher as being a protective factor and external support for children who are vulnerable to stressful circumstances.

Self-Concept

Identity theory is the second central theory integrated into the theoretical/conceptual framework of this paper. When integrating identity theory into this paper, a child's whole identity will not be looked at but just one part of a child's identity, the child's self-concept.

When studying self-concept it is important to understand and take into account all the different dimensions it has in persons identity. Self-concept "is defined as the way we describe ourselves based on the roles we play and personal attributes" (Tredinnick, p23-24, 1993). Research conducted studying self-concept in people has listed its different parts as:

"behavior self: the individual's perception of his or her own behavior, physical self: the individual's perception of their body, state of health, physical appearance, skills and sexuality, moral-ethical self: describes the self from a moral-ethical frame of reference - moral worth, relationship to God, etc., personal self: the individual's sense of personal worth, feeling of adequacy as a person and the evaluation of his or her personality apart from the body or the relationship to others, family self: reflects one's feelings of adequacy, worth and value as a family member, intellectual self: the individual's perception of his or her ability to learn new ideas and concepts and social self: reflects the person's sense of adequacy and worth in social interactions with other people in general" (Comer, et. al., p324, 1987).

These different areas are not representative of all the dimensions of a person's self-concept, but they do give a good idea of the depth of its meaning.

Research has shown that peer bullying does negatively affect the selfconcept of bullied children (Callaghan, 1995; Neary & Joseph, 1994; Bjorkqvist, et. al., 1982; Boulton & Smith, 1994). Callaghan (1995) used the Peer

Victimization Scale with bullied and non-bullied children and found that bullied children have lower self-concept and higher depressive symptomatology. This was true for both boys and girls studied. Overall, self-identified bullied children rated themselves lower in areas of scholastic competence, social acceptance, athletic competence, physical appearance and behavior conduct (Callaghan, 1995).

Neary and Joseph (1994) conducted a similiar study to the Callaghan research. Neary and Joseph administered the Self Perception Profile for Children with 60 schoolgirls aged 10 - 12. Results showed that the bullied schoolgirls rated themselves lower in the areas of scholastic competence, social acceptance, athletic competence, physical appearance and behavior conduct (Neary & Joseph, 1994).

One of the main factors that contribute to resiliency in vulnerable children is a significant adult in their life. This fact was documented in the previous section of this paper and in many instances a teacher was that significant adult. Similiar to enhancing resiliency, building up the self-concept in children requires the feedback of significant others (Comer, et. al., 1987; Warger & Kleman, 1986; Ziller & Stewart-Dowdell, 1991).

Researchers believe that children internalize the messages that they hear from those people who are important to them. Soon after hearing those messages from important people, children perceive themselves according to the messages they receive. "Psychologists have indicated that parents and teachers significantly influence developing children's self-concept" (Comer, et. al., p325, 1987). Involving children in positive experiences in which they can hear encouraging messages from significant adults is another way in which the self-concept in children can be enhanced (Warger & Kleman, 1986). The school

classroom would be the ideal situation for children to be successful and hear those positive messages from significant others.

Research by Metcalfe (1981) showed that "schools are second only to home environments in the determination of children's self-concept and attitudes of selfacceptance or self-rejection" (Tredinnick, p22, 1993). Interventions done in the school are ideal because of the outreach possibilities, availability of individuals and the natural potential for group formation. For teachers to reach children and teach them academics, they must take into consideration the socio/emotional development in the children they are instructing. This is a holistic, preventative approach that works toward the development of optimum human functioning (Tredinnick, 1993). Students needs have changed and for teachers to be effective they need to use this holistic approach and work at meeting not only their student's academic needs but also their emotional needs.

Summary

The research from this review of literature showed that bullying is a problem in various parts of the world and that definitions have universal features. Characteristics and attributes of bullied children have been identified as well as the responses teachers have towards bullied children. Even though teachers have the best opportunity to deal with bullying incidents at school, they either choose not to acknowledge them or they do not see bullying as a problem. Many of the characteristics that bullied children have make them vulnerable to the stresses of not only school life but also everyday life.

Teachers have the opportunity to identify bullied children, foster resilience in them and enhance their self-concept with positive messages. The research shows that teachers can be and are significant influences in the lives of vulnerable children (Werner, 1990). Teachers will justifiably see academics as their major focal point but for teachers to be effective in teaching, they must take

into account the child's social and emotional needs. With resilient characteristics and factors being encouraged in bullied children and their selfconcept being enhanced, not only will they be more likely to handle bullying in school, but they will be better able to handle the stressful situations in life.

.

Chapter 3

Methodology

Research Questions Restated

The two research questions studied have been listed in the first chapter and will be reviewed again in order to introduce the research methodology.

1) How do teaching staff recognize a passive victim of peer bullying?

2) Can strategies be identified whereby teaching staff can improve the self-esteem and assertiveness skills in passive victims of peer bullying?

Subject Selection

In this project, the study population (units of analysis) were the teaching staff of a Minneapolis Elementary School. Teaching staff consisted of all the adults who instruct children in the school including classroom teachers, educational assistants, special education teachers, chapter I teachers and special subject teachers (physical education, art, foreign languages, science, music, media and English as a second language). There were 40 female subjects, five male subjects and all were European American except for one African American staff. The ages of subjects who were administered questionnaires ranged from approximately 25 - 63 years.

The researcher obtained a list of all the employees who worked at the school, looked for the names and occupations of the people who fit the definition of teaching staff and placed the questionnaire in the mailboxes of the persons who fit the definition of teaching staff.

This particular school has grades High 5 through third grade with a student enrollment of approximately 500. One reason why these subjects were chosen for the study was because of the amount of time they spend working with children each day. Teaching staff spend their whole working day with students and have the most knowledge of the students at this particular school. The

second reason why these subjects were chosen was because most bullying happens at school and teaching staff would have the best opportunity to observe and mediate bullying problems.

Research Design

This study is research based and incorporates quantitative and qualitative questions in its design. The data collection tool used was a self-administered questionnaire developed by the researcher. Questions on the survey were geared towards finding out teaching staff's knowledge concerning passive victims of peer bullying, their awareness of bullying at this particular school and the techniques or strategies they used to improve the self-esteem and assertiveness skills in passive victims. The questionnaire consisted of open-ended questions (N=3), yes/no questions (N=3), Likert-type questions (N=1), demographic questions (N=2), multiple choice questions (N=4) and opinion questions (N=3) — for a total of 16 questions. Questions were informational in nature and held little risk of being intrusive to the respondents.

The questionnaire was reviewed with 17 fellow Augsburg College Master in Social Work (MSW) students and one Augsburg College professor. MSW students came from various vocational backgrounds and were able to give objective feedback concerning the survey questions. Feedback from MSW colleagues was used to refine and clarify questions on the survey. The feedback given by MSW colleagues helped to establish the content validity of the questions used on the survey. Responses given to the researcher and the answers written on the questionnaire attested that the composition of the questions were related to the study focus and research questions (Rubin & Babbie, 1993). The study questionnaire can be found in the appendix section of this paper.

Operational Definition of Terms/Concepts

Important terms and concepts for this study were operationalized/measured through the research questionnaire given to the teaching staff of a particular Minneapolis elementary school.

The first research question pursued teaching staff's knowledge about how they recognize a passive victim of peer bullying. Specific multiple choice questions in the survey were used to gather the quantitative information needed to determine the knowledge teaching staff have concerning the characteristics of passive victims.

The second research question inquired about the strategies and techniques teaching staff used to improve the self-esteem and assertiveness skills in passive victims of peer bullying. Open-ended questions in the survey asked respondents to write down the strategies and techniques they used to improve the self-esteem and assertiveness skills in passive victims. The answers to the open-ended questions provided the qualitative feedback needed to encourage the respondents in what they are already doing to help passive victims. These answers also provided new information on techniques and strategies other teaching staff used to help passive victims of peer bullying.

Data Collection

Questionnaires were distributed in the subject's school mailboxes February 5, 1996. Subjects were informed in the cover letter to please fill out the questionnaire by February 9, 1996 and place it in a drop box situated by the school mailboxes. The survey took approximately 10 minutes to complete. Seventeen questionnaires were returned by February 9. A memo was sent to the teaching staff February 13, 1996 reminding subjects to complete the questionnaire. Subjects were informed in the memo that if they still had interest in completing a survey, they could still do so and place it in the drop box by

February 16, 1996. Two more questionnaires were returned for a total of 19. This is a response rate of 42%.

Protection of Participants

This study began with the approval of the research proposal by the Augsburg College Institutional Review Board (IRB) and the Minneapolis Public Schools Research, Evaluation and Assessment Board. Both boards needed full applications filled out describing the research proposal, the design of the study, subject selection, protection of subjects, measuring instruments, data collection procedures and benefits of the study. Approval to conduct the study was granted from the Minneapolis Public Schools on 1/4/96 and from the Augsburg IRB on 1/22/96. Approval letters found in the appendix section of this paper.

The principal of the school was approached and informed of the researcher's desire to use school staff as research participants. Copies of the questionnaire and cover letter were given to the principal as well as information on the nature of the study. Permission from the school principal was given to conduct the study at that time. The researcher asked the principal to sign a letter that would be given to the teaching staff informing them of the study's purpose, the benefits of the study, the principal's permission to conduct the study at the school and the voluntary nature and anonymity of the study. This letter was given to the teaching staff the Thursday before the questionnaire was administered and was considered the first contact with the participants. The principal's letter is found in the appendix section of this paper.

The cover letter of the questionnaire described the research study and informed the subjects of the anonymity of the research. Return of the questionnaire was considered consent to participate in the study and was explained in the cover letter (Rubin & Babbie, 1993). Subjects were also told that they could skip any questions they desired and that they could withdraw

from the study at anytime. Lastly, subjects were told that their participation would not affect their standing with the school they work in, the Minneapolis Public Schools, Augsburg College or the researcher. Cover letter found in appendix section of paper.

Method for Analysis of Data

Descriptive data analysis was used to examine the information gathered from the questionnaires. Since only one variable was observed at a time, univariate analysis will be used with the distribution of answers (Rubin & Babbie, 1993). Frequency distributions, measures of central tendency (mean, median, mode) and percentages were used to present the information gathered in a manageable form.

Study Limitations

Limitations for this study can be summed up in the following ways:

- The study was completed by the teaching staff in one school.
 This resulted in a small sample size which effected the generalizability of the findings. The findings may not be reflective of the entire profession or other schools.
- 2. Reliability was limited to the fact that the respondents may not have comprehended all of the questions and issues asked about in the questionnaire.
- The questionnaire was not generalizable to other types of victims of peer bullying. For example: provocative victims of peer bullying.
 The questions specifically asked teaching staff about passive victims of peer bullying.
- 4. Subjects were not randomly chosen. Subjects were chosen if they met certain criteria. This limited the external validity of the questionnaire.

 Nineteen out of 45 surveys were returned, giving a response rate of 42%. This response rate was not considered high enough to be representative of the sample of subjects (Rubin & Babbie, 1993).

This list of study limitations is not exhaustive but it does record some of the main boundaries in which the study needs to be reviewed.

Summary

This section of the paper explained the method in which the researcher used to conduct the study of teaching staff's responses to passive victims of peer bullying. The next section of this paper will present the findings of the survey instrument administered to teaching staff at a particular elementary school.

Chapter 4

Presentation of Findings

In this chapter the researcher will present findings gathered from the questionnaire administered to teaching staff at a particluar Minneapolis elementary school. The questionnaire sought to gain insight into how teaching staff recognize a passive victim of peer bullying, the techniques and strategies teaching staff use to improve the self-esteem and assertiveness skills in a passive victim and the views and opinions teaching staff have concerning bullying.

Multiple-choice, yes/no and open-ended questions were used to gather data on how teaching staff recognize a passive victim and the actions taken when a bullying incident occurs. Open-ended questions were used to gather statements on the techniques and strategies teaching staff use to improve the self-esteem and assertiveness skills in passive victims. Two fill-in-the-blank questions were used to gather demographic information about teaching staff. Respondents were reminded to refer only to their experiences with passive victims of peer bullying when answering the survey questions.

This chapter will use the questionnaire format as a guide. Questions 15 and 16 will be discussed first since they provided demographic information about the respondents. After the demographic section is discussed, the rest of the chapter will flow in sequential order.

Demographics

Survey instruments were administered to 45 teaching staff in a Minneapolis elementary school. Nineteen surveys were returned, which is a return rate of 42%. Nine of the respondents were classroom teachers, eight were specialist and support staff and two were educational assistants. The number of years teaching staff had been working with children ranged from 6 to 31 years. The

average number of years (mean) teaching staff had been working with children was 20 years, with the median being 21 years. One respondent decided not to answer the question for number of years he/she had been working with children.

Table 1. How do you find out that certain children are being bullied in your classroom?			
How teaching staff discover children are being bullied.	Responses	<u>%'s</u>	N=19
You observe a child being bullied.	19	100%	
You hear about a child being bullied.	13	68%	
You hear from a complaint of the parents of the victim.	9	47%	
The victim tells you he/she is being bullied.	16	84 %	
Other.	1	5%	

Identification of Passive Victims

Note. Respondents were encouraged to mark all choices that apply.

Question 1 instructed teaching staff to list the different ways they discover children are being bullied in their classroom. Responses are visually represented in Table 1.

It's interesting to note that all 19 respondents (100%) reported that they had observed a child being bullied. Another high response rate was 16 of the 19 teaching staff (84%) reported that *the victim tells them that he/she is being bullied*. One respondent checked *other* for their response. The subject who checked *other* reported that "another teacher, bus driver, etc. tells" them of a child being bullied.

Table 2. If a bullying incident happens in your class, list in order of importance what you				
would do to resolve the incident.				N=19
	<u>R</u>	ank Orde	er	
Action taken by teacher	<u>1st</u>	<u>2nd</u>	<u>3rd</u>	
Talk with the class about the rules on fighting.	0	4	9	
Talk with the victim and bully individually.	12	0	1	
Talk with the victim and bully together.	4	8	1	
Encourage the victim to stick up for themselves.	0	3	2	
Report incident to the parents of the bully and victim.	0	0	2	
Report incident to school social worker.	1	3	1	
Send bully to principal.	1	0	0	
Other.	0	0	1	
No Response	0	0	1	

Teaching Staff's Response to Bullying

<u>Note.</u> Respondents were instructed to rank order their responses from 1 to 3. The number one being the most important.

Respondents answering question 2 were asked to list in order of importance what they would do if a bullying incident happened in their class. Teaching staff's responses are represented in Table 2.

It's interesting to note that the responses- *talk with class about the rules on fighting, talk with the victim and bully individually and talk with the victim and bully together-* each received a total of 13 rankings by respondents as their 1st, 2nd or 3rd choice. One respondent marked *other* and commented that he/she would "talk to class on how we treat each other as individuals and respect each other". A second respondent chose their first and second ranking but not their third. The researcher used this respondents data. A third subject did not rank order their responses, he/she put check marks beside two of the responses. The

researcher did not count this last respondent in these results because he/she did not answer the question properly.

Views of Bullying as a Form of Play Between Children

Question number 3 asked subjects if they thought that bullying was a form of play between children. Answers to this question could be either *yes* or *no* and subjects were asked to comment on their answers. The word *play* was never defined for the respondents. Therefore, teaching staff defined the word *play* in their own terms. By the researcher not defining *play* in the question, the respondents gave information about their views on what appropriate play is among children.

Two respondents (11%) answered yes to question 3. One respondent commented that children "play first and then start fighting" and the other respondent inserted the words "social interaction" in place of the word "play" in question 3.

Fifteen subjects (79%) answered *no* to question 3. The general themes for comments concerning question 3 revolved around bullying not being pleasant for the victim, that bullying is aggression and bullying is about power and control of another person. Quotes like - "bullying is not play", "bullying is always aggression", "bullying is an attempt to overcome and overpower another, perhaps weaker student", "making anyone feel uncomfortable is never a form of play" and "I believe that the bully knows and gains power from his or her own actions" - were common among the responses given by these 15 subjects.

One respondent (5%) placed an x between yes and *no*. This respondent wrote "what we call bullying some children would call teasing". Another respondent (5%) placed checks in both the yes and *no* spaces. He/she wrote, "yes - they think it's funny - don't realize they can hurt others", "no - sometimes it's a habit or learned behavior - copying older siblings, they want to be cool".

Table 3. What types of characteristics do victims have that encourage bullies to pick on			
them?			N=19
Characteristics	Responses	<u>%'s</u>	
Dirty clothes	13	68%	
Over weight	18	95%	
Glasses	5	26%	
Physical handicaps	7	37%	
Seems anxious	8	42%	
Shy	12	63%	
Race	7	37%	
Gender	7	37%	
Not applicable	0	0%	
Other	8	42%	

Characteristics of Passive Victims

Note. Respondents were encouraged to check all characteristics that apply.

Question 4 asked teaching staff about the characteristics they see in passive victims of peer bullying that encourage bullies to pick on them. There was no limit to the amount of responses a subject could check for this question. Teaching staff's responses are represented in Table 3.

The characteristic marked by most respondents was *over weight*, 18 responses (95%). The characteristic *dirty clothes* accumulated 13 responses (68%) and the characteristic *shy* was marked 12 times (63%).

The eight respondents (42%) who checked *other* as one of their choices listed these characteristics of bullied children: "learning disabilities, low selfesteem, wets pants, not sure of self when speaking in front of others, different morals/values, anything that makes you different, things they say and how they say them, semantical choices for words, anything unusual to the bully and academic ability".

Behavior of Passive Victims

Teaching staff were asked in question 5 to list how bullied children act in their classroom. Eleven of the respondents (58%) listed characteristics of bullied children that were passive in nature. Comments like "quiet, submissive, play alone, more withdrawn students, they often tell or tattle, isolated, sad, non-assertive, they cry and don't stand up for themselves, follow rules, subdued, scared, maybe low self-esteem, tentative and uncomfortable" represented the responses made by these eleven respondents.

Two of the subjects (11%) listed actions of bullied children that were surprising to the researcher. These two subjects listed the actions "sullen, angry outwardly, mostly angry inwardly and angry".

One respondent (5%) commented that if they knew about bullying behavior, it doesn't continue, so the victims don't act any differently. Another respondent (5%) wrote "I can't remember ever having a victim of peer bullying in my classroom". Four of the teaching staff (21%) did not answer the question.

Problem of Bullying at this School

Question 6 asked teaching staff if they thought this particluar school has a problem with bullying. Responses to this question could be either yes or *no* and subjects were asked to comment on the choice they made.

Eight respondents (42%) marked yes as their response to question 6. Comments from those who marked yes were "we may have had this problem a long time ago, but nobody really paid attention", "not a great one", "even if their are only a few incidents, it's a problem for the victims" and "I think that the problem is very manageable, it varies from different classes". Not all of the eight respondents who answered yes made comments.

Nine respondents (47%) marked no for their response to question 6.

Comments from those who marked *no* were "not in my grade, don't know about whole school", "not the whole school" and "not this year in my room". Not all of the nine respondents who answered *no* made comments.

Two respondents (11%) did not check yes or *no* but made the comments-"not a huge problem but some- I think most schools have some type of problem" and "I'm pretty isolated from what goes on in the other grades but I'm sure that we are not without incident".

Number of Passive Victims in Class or Worked With

Respondents were instructed in questions 7, 8 and 9 to write down the number of children they work with during the day that are bullied by their peers. Classroom teachers were instructed to answer question seven, educational assistants answered question eight and specialists and support staff were asked to answer question nine. Choices to these questions were:

Children Worked With During The Day

a. 0 - 2

b. 3 - 5

c. 6 - 8

d. 9 - 11

e. 12 or more

f. not a problem

Subjects were asked to circle their response and then write down how many children they work with during the day.

Nine classroom teachers (47%) answered question seven. Eight of the subjects marked the response *a. 0 - 2* and one subject marked *f. not a problem.* First, second and third grade teachers represented eight of the responses and taught anywhere from 17 - 23 students. One respondent taught kindergarten

and worked with two separate groups of children during the school day, 20 students during the AM class and then 20 new students during the PM class. Kindergarten children attend school for half a day.

Two educational assistants (11%) responded to question eight. Both of the subjects marked a. 0 - 2 for this question. One respondent worked with two students during their day. The other respondent marked e. 12 or more for their answer. Meaning that he/she worked with 12 or more students during their day. This last respondent did not answer the question properly, therefore, the researcher could not use this respondent's data.

Eight specialist and support staff (42%) answered question nine. Four of the eight respondents marked the answer *b.* 3 - 5. One of the four subjects worked with 30 students, 1 worked with 35-40 students and the other 2 respondents worked with 120 students individually. Two of the eight subjects circled the response *c.* 6 - 8. One of these two subjects worked with 80 students and the other worked with 90 students. The last two of the eight respondents each marked *f. not a problem* for their answer. One respondent worked with 240 students and the other worked with 200 - 240 students.

The percentage of bullied children that classroom teachers worked with was anywhere from 0% to 10%. The percentage of bullied children that specialists or support staff worked with was anywhere from 4% to 9%. The responses gathered from the educational assistants could not be counted because one respondent only worked with two students and the other respondent answered the question improperly.

School Policies Concerning Aggression Between Peers

Respondents were asked in question 10 if they thought that this particular school had consistent policies in dealing with aggressive incidents that

happened between peers. Subjects were asked to answer yes or no and comment if they chose the response no.

Twelve respondents (63%) answered yes to this question and seven respondents (37%) answered *no*. Subjects who answered *no* were asked to make recommendations on what this school could do differently. Six of the seven respondents who answered *no* made recommendations which focused on bringing in curriculum that dealt with bullying and how best to resolve it and developing all school standards that teaching staff would follow when mediating bullying incidents. Two respondents commented that teaching staff at this school handled bullying incidents in their own way. One respondent who answered *no* did not comment on what he/she would recommend this school do differently.

Improving the Self-Esteem in Passive Victims

The skills or techniques teaching staff use to improve the self-esteem in passive victims of peer bullying was the subject of question 11. Sixteen respondents (84%) aswered this open-ended question, leaving three respondents (16%) who did not answer the question. To improve the self-esteem in passive victims eight out of the 16 respondents who answered question 11 said that they would praise and give personal attention to passive victims. General responses were "I will talk with them daily on a more personal level", "I give them responsibilities and position of power in the class", "praise child for real accomplishments", "encourage them in participating in the lesson" and "work on positive - make feel comfortable". Four of the sixteen respondents wrote that they would "role play bullying situations and teach students how to deal with these situations", "coach and prompt passive victim when a situation arises" or the respondent would encourage the passive victim to "confront the bully". Two respondents wrote that they would move the passive victim to a

safer part of the room or have them sit near nicer children. One of the respondents focused on the child's appearance and would have extra clothes for the child to change into if their clothes were dirty or if the child wet themselves.

Improving Assertiveness Skills in Passive Victims

What skills or techniques do teaching staff use to improve the assertiveness skills in passive victims of peer bullying was asked in question 12. Fifteen respondents (79%) answered this open-ended question and four respondents (21%) did not answer this question.

Some of the major themes coming from 11 of the 15 respondents who answered question 12 dealt with "role playing" and/or "coaching", "modeling or teaching victims things to say so that they could be more assertive". General comments from these eleven respondents were: "tell them to walk away", "have them tell bully to stop doing what they are doing and that you don't like it", "teach them what to say that is assertive but not threatening", "coach them if they are not comfortable telling bullies to leave them alone", "modeling", "providing vocabulary", and "teach students to use 'l' statements". Another common theme made by six respondents was that of teacher intervention in the bullying situation - "talking with the victim individually", "listening carefully" and telling the victim to "always make sure that they get help and that they have a right to be safe" were common statements made by respondents. Lastly, two subjects commented that it would be helpful for victims to "ignore" the bully.

Table 4. Bullying of children by their peers can lead to poor school performance and			
truancy.			N=19
Rank	Responses	<u>%'s</u>	
Strongly agree	7	37%	
Agree	9	47%	
Disagree	1	5%	
Strongly disagree	0	0%	
Don't know	2	11%	

Bullying Leads to Poor School Performance and Truancy

Question 13 instructed teaching staff to give a likert type scale response to whether or not they thought that bullying of children by their peers could lead to poor school performance and truancy. Subjects responses are visually represented in Table 4. Rankings for question 13 were:

strongly agree, agree, disagree, strongly disagree and don't know. Subjects were asked to comment on their responses.

Comments of respondents who chose the rank *strongly agree* were "if you are afraid it is hard to accomplish school work and concentrate on learning", "it would me", "all are linked together by self-esteem", "one of the basic requirements for a child to learn is for the child to feel secure" and "children who don't enjoy school or find it a safe place to be have no incentive to try or to attend". Comments made by subjects who marked *agree* were "if you were a constant victim of bullying, school would not feel like a safe place to be" and "I work with young children, but I think it's true the older they get". One respondent marked *disagree* for their rank, no respondents marked *strongly disagree* and two respondents marked *don't know.* Those who marked *disagree* or *don't know* did not make any comments as to why they chose that rank.

Views on Where Most Bullying Incidents Occur

Table 5. Most bullying incidents happen at			
Place	Responses	<u>%'s</u>	N=19
Neighborhood	3	16%	
Playground	15	79%	
Bus	18	95%	
Lunchroom	1	5%	
Hallway	1	5%	
Classroom	0	0%	

Note. Respondents were asked to make two choices.

Question 14 asked teaching staff where they think most bullying incidents happen. Six responses were given for the subjects to chose from and they were asked to make two choices. Responses given by teaching staff are visually represented in Table 5.

The response chosen the most by teaching staff was the *bus* with 18 responses (95%), the *playground* was chosen next with 15 responses (79%). No subjects chose the *classroom*.

To summarize, the findings from the self-administered questionnaire, completed by teaching staff at a particular elementary school, were presented in this chapter. The next chapter of this paper will discuss the findings gathered from the self-administered questionnaire.

Chapter 5

Discussion of the Findings

In this chapter the quantitative and qualitative data gathered from the selfadministered questionnaire will be discussed and related to the research questions listed in the first chapter of this paper. The two research questions listed in chapter one inquired about teaching staff's knowledge in recognizing a passive victim of peer bullying and the strategies and techniques teaching staff use to improve the self-esteem and assertiveness skills in passive victims. The views and opinions teaching staff have concerning bullying will also be discussed in this section of the paper.

The discussion begins by referring to survey questions 1, 4 and 5. These questions obtained information from teaching staff as to how they recognize a passive victim of peer bullying. The following section discussed survey questions 2, 11 and 12. These questions gathered information from teaching staff as to the strategies and techniques they use to improve the self-esteem and assertiveness skills of passive victims. The last section of this chapter discussed survey questions 3, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 13 and 14. These survey questions obtained information concerning teaching staff's opinions and views pertaining to bullying. Survey questions 15 and 16 asked teaching staff demographic information that was discussed in chapter 4.

Teaching Staff's Responses to and Recognition of Passive Victims

It is the researcher's belief that teaching staff in schools are the most appropriate people to identify passive victims of peer bullying. School personnel work with children in the school all day and have the opportunity to observe and mediate bullying incidences. Three questions from the survey asked teaching staff at this particular school how they recognize passive victims. The results of these three questions will be discussed in this next section of the paper.

When teaching staff were asked how they discovered that certain children are being bullied, all 19 respondents (100%) remarked that they *observed a child being bullied*. No research reviewed in the literature studied teaching staff's discovery of bullied children but the survey's finding supported the researcher's assumption that since most bullying happens at school, (Batsche, et. al, 1994; Sharpe & Smith, 1991) teaching staff would be the most appropriate people to mediate bullying situations. School personnel are in the school setting all day and have the opportunity to see bullying behavior happen or be there soon after it happens and then work with the bullies and victims in the most effective ways.

A finding from this research that differed from findings in the literature is that 16 of the 19 respondents (84%) marked that *a victim tells them that he/she is being bullied*. Research by Boulton & Underwood (1992) discovered that only a portion of the victims tell school personnel that they are being bullied because they think that they will either not be sympathetic to their problem or not be able to protect them. Teaching staff at this school may be more sensitive to bullying issues and take the necessary action needed to follow through with responses to bullying instances. Students may feel that they can tell school personnel about being bullied and that they will be helped.

The characteristics that victims of peer bullying present have been extensively studied in the literature and this research demonstrated a number of connections and some new insights. Reponses gathered from the researcher's self-administered questionnaire concerning the physical characteristics of passive victims of peer bullying supported previous studies conducted with victims of peer bullying (Bjorquist, 1982). Physical characteristics of passive victims are for example:

being *over weight* and wearing *dirty clothes* had high response rates (95% and 68% respectively) by teaching staff. Other physical characteristics like *wearing glasses*, *having a physical handicap*, *gender and race* (26%, 37%, 37% and 37% respectively) had lower but still significant responses by teaching staff.

It seems that the teaching staff who completed this survey did notice consistent characteristics in passive victims which supported information found in the literature concerning characteristics of bullied children.

The characteristic of *race* being a factor in bullying was responded to by teaching staff seven times (37%) which is not as significant as the other characteristics listed in Table 3 (see page 29). This finding supports the research conducted by Whitney and Smith (1993) which reported that being called racist names or being picked on because of a child's race is significant but much less frequent than other forms of bullying.

Emotional characteristics of bullied children like being *shy* and *anxious* (63% and 42% respectively) were marked by teaching staff but not to the extent that physical characteristics were marked. Studies conducted by Olweus (1994) talk at length about the emotional characteristics of bullied children, characteristics like being anxious, insecure, cautious, sensitive and quiet represent the findings gathered from his studies. Teaching staff who completed this survey did not list the emotional characteristics of passive victims as much as their physical characteristics. There is no information in the review of literature that comments on this particular discrepancy between physical and emotional characteristics of bullied children. One reason for the discrepancy between teaching staff recognizing more physical characteristics than emotional characteristics in passive victims could be because physical characteristics can be seen while emotional characteristics are not as easily seen. Emotional characteristics of

passive victims like feeling insecure, sensitive and cautious are not as easily recognized unless someone takes the time to investigate.

The last question concerning characteristics of passive victims asked teaching staff how these children act in their classroom. Eleven of the fifteen respondents who answered this question (73%) listed characteristics or actions of bullied children that were passive in nature. Comments by respondents included "quiet, submissive, play alone, more withdrawn students, they often tell or tattle, sad, non-assertive, they cry and don't stand up for themselves, follow rules, subdued, scared, maybe low self-esteem, tentative, and uncomfortable". Data gathered from the questionnaire supported studies conducted by Olweus (1977, 1978, 1994).

Two of the fifteen respondents listed actions that were not substantiated in the literature completed by Olweus (1977, 1978,1994). These two respondents listed the characteristics of "angry outwardly and angry inwardly" as actions of bullied children that they have observed in the school. A reason for this finding could be that the respondents were including the actions of provocative victims in their answer. Provocative victims tend to be more aggressive and instigate confrontations with other children (Olweus, 1994). The aggressive actions of provocative victims could be seen as angry and lead to the respondents answering with the responses "angry outwardly and angry inwardly". Respondents were instructed in the questionnaire to refer only to passive victims of peer bullying but comments by these two respondents seem to be directed towards provocative victims of peer bullying.

In summary, teaching staff at this particluar school seem to have a good knowledge of the characteristics, attributes and actions of passive victims. Teaching staff who responded to this survey listed in detail the physical and emotional characteristics of passive victims as well as how passive victims act in

their classroom. The subjects responses are supported by the review of literature concerning bullied children.

Strategies and Techniques Used with Passive Victims

The above results from the researcher's survey show that teaching staff have adequate knowledge in how to identify passive victims of peer bullying. The next important finding to gather data on would be the strategies and techniques teaching staff use to improve the self-esteem and assertiveness skills in passive victims. As reported in the first chapter of this paper, victims of peer bullying suffer from lower self-esteem and lack the assertiveness skills to defend themselves in bullying situations (Hoover & Hazler, 1991; Perry, et. al., 1988; Boulton & Smith, 1994). This next section of the paper will identify the techniques and strategies teaching staff use to improve the self-esteem and assertiveness skills in passive victims as well as gather information on how teaching staff resolve a bullying incident that happens in their class.

Teaching staffs' responses to the question of what action they would take to resolve a bullying incident that happened in their classroom congregated around three actions. The actions *talk with the class about the rules on fighting, talk with the victim and bully individually and talk with the victim and bully together* each received 13 responses by teaching staff. No research in the review of literature studied actions taken by school personnel to resolve a bullying incident. Therefore, the implications made by the researcher are not supported by any previous studies.

The response of *talking with the class about the rules on fighting* would be helpful because the teacher could use this opportunity to let the class know that bullying is inappropriate, that bullying hurts others and that there will be consequences for those who bully their peers. Talking with the class would also

be an opportune time to empower the victim and let the class know that victims will be listened to and helped. The teacher could use this time to role play bullying situations with his/her students, teaching them appropriate responses to being bullied. The teacher must be aware though that too much attention to bullying may build up the bully's notarity in the class. A better approach might be for the teacher to mediate bullying incidents on a smaller level at first (with just the bully and victim) but if the bullying incidents persisted with many students from one class, then a whole class discussion may be in order.

The action of *talking with the victim and bully individually* could be helpful but it would not be as effective as talking with the class. As said earlier, a teacher talking with his/her class about bullying could use the bullying incident as a learning time to teach the class about the negative effects of bullying.

The action *talking with the victim and bully together* could be very helpful as long as the teacher knew how to empower the victim and encourage him/her to confront the bully. It would be important for a teacher to have knowledge in conflict mediation so that the victim would not be re-victimized by the bully. The techniques of coaching students through a conflict situation and teaching the use of "I" statements could be helpful for the passive victim.

In many schools policies are implemented that give teaching staff guidelines in mediating aggressive incidents that happen between peers. Conflict mediation and sexual harassment guidelines are two examples of these policies. However, guidelines concerning conflict mediation and sexual harassment differ in their approach to handling aggressive incidents. This may cause some confusion and even some tension for teaching personnel. The procedure for mediating conflicts between peers has the two participants working through the issue together. The procedure for dealing with sexual harassment between peers requires that the teacher meet with the two participants individually. The

confusion and tension for teachers can come into play when a bully acts aggressively towards another peer in a sexual way. Does this circumstance call for conflict mediation or follow the guidelines for sexual harassment? To avoid some of this confusion and tension consistent and clear guidelines need to be implemented that would clarify aggressive incidents that overlap in their behavior.

The responses from the questionnaire encourage victims to stick up for themselves and report the incident to the parents of the bully and victim were each responded to five and two times respectively by teaching staff. The researcher thought that the low responses to these actions were significant. Research shows that bullied children lack the assertiveness skills and selfesteem to stick up for themselves (Hoover & Hazler, 1991; Perry et. al., 1988) and that many parents of victims and bullies are not aware of the problems their child may be having at school (O'Moore, 1988). Passive victims need encouragement and teaching by school staff on how to stick up for themselves so that they will be able to protect themselves and get the help they need in future bullying instances. Parents of the bully and victim need to be informed of what is happening to their child at school so that they can support their child and the school in what is being done concerning bullying. Research conducted by Floyd (1985) and Olweus (1994) reported that for bullying to be reduced there needs to be consistent school policies concerning bullying, workshops for school personnel teaching them about bullying and collaboration between the school and the parents of the bully and victim. With all the various parties working together to reduce bullying, the school experience for the bully and victim will most likely improve.

Resiliency theory and self-concept made up the theoretical/conceptual base of this paper. The strategies and techniques teaching staff used to improve the

self-esteem and assertiveness skills in passive victims of peer bullying are supported by the studies conducted with building up the resiliency and selfconcept in vulnerable children. The researcher considers passive victims to be vulnerable since they have many of the characteristics of vulnerable children (Tarwater, 1993). In this next section of the paper the researcher will combine the two questions asked of teaching staff concerning the improvement of selfesteem and assertiveness skills in passive victims. The open-ended responses given by teaching staff overlapped in many ways and will be discussed in this next section.

Teaching staff showed common agreement concerning the best techniques and strategies used to improve the self-esteem and assertiveness skills in passive victims. Comments given by teaching staff were: "to praise them, give them personal attention, role play bullying situations, provide vocabulary and coach them through bullying situations". These techniques used by teaching staff would help a passive victim by giving him/her the extra attention they need, by encouraging them through a bullying situation and by teaching them how to handle future bullying circumstances.

Research conducted with resilient children and studying self-concept in children show that having a caring adult take an interest in a vulnerable child's life is key to children becoming resilient (Werner, 1984; Wyman, 1993) and improving a child's self-concept (Comer, et. al., 1987; Ziller & Stewart-Dowdell, 1991). Teaching staff who responded to this survey commented that they would "give personal attention to a passive victim" and "work on teaching passive victims how to stick up for themselves during a bullying situation". School personnel spending more personal time with passive victims and teaching victims how to stick up for themselves are key strategies. These key strategies used by teaching staff would: 1. teach children how to best deal with bullying, 2.

be positive massages for the passive victim to hear and internalize and 3. build a relationship with a significant adult. The role playing and coaching given by teachers would also be a positive experience for the passive victim which would enhance his/her self-concept (Warger & Kleman, 1986).

In summary, teaching staff who completed the survey showed knowledge in the various techniques and strategies used to improve a passive victim's selfesteem and assertiveness skills. The question still remains though as to how often and how consistent teaching staff are at using these techniques to help passive victims. Questions from the survey asked teaching staff what strategies and techniques they used to improve the self-esteem and assertiveness skills in passive victims. Two other questions that were not asked but could have added more information are: 1. How often do teaching staff use strategies and techniques to improve the self-esteem and assertiveness skills in a passive victim? and 2. Do teaching staff have time to use proper techniques to mediate bullying situations? These other two questions would have given more relevant information concerning the frequency and opportunity teaching staff have to properly use techniques and strategies that would improve the self-esteem and assertiveness skills in passive victims.

Teaching Staff's Views and Opinions Concerning Bullying

In this section of the paper the discussion will revolve around five questions from the survey that asked teaching staff their opinion on various aspects of bullying. Survey questions 6, 7, 8, 9 and 10 asked teaching staff about bullying in relation to this particular school and will be discussed first. Survey questions 3, 13 and 14 inquired about the knowledge teaching staff have concerning bullying and will be discussed last.

Teaching staff were asked to respond yes or *no* to the opinion question of whether or not they thought that this particular school has a problem with

bullying. Answers to the question of whether or not this school has a problem with bullying were almost equally divided with 42% of the respondents marking *yes* and 47% of the respondents marking *no*.

Comments from teaching staff who marked yes revolved around respondents thinking that this school has somewhat of a bullying problem but that it is not a great one and that it is manageable. From the researcher's point of view it seems that teaching staff think that there is bullying going on at this school but that it is under control and no more of a problem than what can be expected from grade school children.

Comments from respondents who answered *no* agreed with the comments made by those respondents who answered *yes*.

Two respondents who completed the survey did not answer yes or *no* to question three but made comments. The comments made from these respondents coincided with the comments made by the other respondents, that bullying does happen at this school but it is not a big problem.

The researcher found it difficult to know if teaching staff were minimizing the bullying problem at this particular school. One of the ways to support or reject the researcher's assumption would be to study the extent that children feel they are bullied. Surveying or interviewing the students at this school would provide additional information that would either be conflicting or supportive of the results gathered from teaching staff.

As shown in chapter one of this paper, studies by Lowenstein (1978) and O'Moore (1988) reported that anywhere from 5% to 22% of schoolchildren are bullied. Teaching staff were asked to write down the number of bullied children that they worked with during the school day. The percentages gathered from the respondents who answered this question showed that the incidence of bullying at this particular school is anywhere from 0% to 10%. The 0% gathered

from the incidence of bullying question is lower than the average gathered from the literature but the 10% is within the range of bullying gathered from the literature. Although, the incidence of total bullying (including passive and provocative victims) at this particular school is likely to be greater than the data gathered from the questionnaire. Teaching staff were instructed to answer questions in reference to passive victims only, which means that provocative victims were not counted in the results. This means that the incidence of bullying at this particular school could be higher than the average gathered from the literature.

Research conducted with schools that have lower incidences of bullying report that one of the most effective means for combatting bullying behavior is to implement explicit school policies that explain how bullying will be responded too (Olweus, 1994). Question 10 of the survey asked teaching staff if they thought that this school had consistent policies in dealing with aggressive incidences that happen between peers. Twelve respondents (63%) marked *yes* for their response and seven respondents (37%) marked *no*.

It seems that a majority of the teaching staff at this school think that the policies concerning aggression between peers are consistent. Of the seven respondents who marked *no* for their answer, their comments revolved around individual teachers handling aggressive incidents in their own way. It seems that teaching staff at this school have the freedom to work with bullying and other aggressive incidents individually. With teaching staff confronting aggressive behaviors individually there is the chance that policies dealing with aggressive behaviors are not consistent. This in turn may cause confusion between school staff and the students concerning the exact procedures in mediating aggressive incidents.

Research reported by Stephenson & Smith (1988) showed that a portion of the teachers studied thought that bullying was a natural part of childhood and that if ignored it would eventually work its way out. The research by Stephenson & Smith led the researcher to ask the question of whether teaching staff thought that bullying was a form of play between children. Fifteen respondents (79%) answered *no* to the question of whether or not bullying is a form of play between children. Comments from these respondents centered on bullying being a form of power and control for the bully and that it is never right to bully or hurt someone. Comments from the respondents concerning bullying being about power and control support research conducted by Batsche & Knoff (1994) and Olweus (1978).

Those respondents who marked yes for their answer to the above question made comments that explained how bullying can be a form of play but did not try to justify it or make bullying behavior sound appropriate.

Therefore, the data gathered by this researcher concerning teaching staff's view of bullying being a form of play between children differed from the research gathered by Stephenson & Smith.

Batsche & Knoff (1994) researched the effects of bullying and found that constant bullying leads to poor school performance and truancy in bullied children. In this survey teaching staff were asked ,using a likert type question, if bullying leads to poor school performance and truancy. Eighty-four percent of the respondents answered this question *strongly agree* (37%) or *agree* (47%) with 11% of the respondents answering *don't know*. Comments from the respondents revolved around the need for students to feel safe to be able to learn and that if safety is not there then it would be very difficult for a child to be at school. The responses to this question support the research done concerning teaching staff's knowledge to the effects of bullying on passive victims.

Research conducted by Sharp & Smith (1991) reported that most bullying happens in parts of the school where there is the least amount of supervision by adults. Teaching staff who completed the questionnaire supported the research done by Sharp and Smith by reporting that the *playground* (79%) and the *bus* (95%) are the places where the most bullying occurs. Results from this survey lead the researcher to believe that it is important to have adequate supervision in less structured areas so that bullying will be responded to quickly and effectively.

Summary

To summarize, teaching staff seem to think that the problem of bullying at this particular school is manageable and the data gathered concerning the incidence of bullying at this school supports their opinion. However, it is a concern of the researcher that a portion of the teaching staff handle aggressive incidents individually. It is also a concern that some teaching staff think that there needs to be put in place consistent procedures concerning aggressive incidents. As was stated earlier, consistent procedures concerning aggressive incidents is key to lowering the incidence of bullying problems. Lastly, teaching staff have good knowledge concerning bullying. Data gathered from the survey showed that teaching staff know some of the effects of bullying, do not think that bullying is a form of play between children and that unsupervised areas of the school are the most common places of bullying.

Overall results from the survey indicate that the teaching staff at this particular school have significant knowledge in: 1. the recognition of passive victims of peer bullying, 2. the effects of bullying on children and 3. how to improve the self-esteem and assertiveness skills in passive victims of peer bullying. The concern from the researcher's point of view is that the respondents to this survey may be minimizing the bullying problem at this

school. Comments from this section of the survey revolved around "yes, bullying does happen at this school but no more than what can be expected from grade school children or no more than at any other school". This concern of the researcher will be discussed more in the conclusion section of this paper.

Chapter 6

Conclusion

In this next section of the paper the implications for teaching staff, implications for social work practice and the recommendations for future research will be discussed in light of the results of the questionnaire administered to teaching staff at a particular elementary school.

Implications for Teaching Staff

Since the phenomenon of bullying is becoming more of an understood issue in schools today, it will be important for teaching staff to have an understanding of bullying behavior and the effect it has on the bully, the victim and the school atmosphere. This research paper surveyed teaching staff's responses to passive victims of peer bullying and in this next section the researcher will provide some implications for teaching staff concerning this topic.

Consistent Policies

1. A portion of the teaching staff surveyed commented that teachers at this school dealt with aggressive incidents individually and that there needs to be consistent policies concerning the handling of aggressive incidents. As was said before, implementing consistent policies and procedures concerning bullying behavior is one of the key ingredients to lowering the incidence of bullying in a school (Batsche & Knoff, 1994). Example: A consistent procedure concerning bullying behavior could be that for the first bullying instance the teacher will mediate the situation between the bully and victim. Then the teacher will call the parents of the bully and victim, explain the situation and how it was handled.

Supervision

2. Teaching staff at this school remarked that the bus and playground are the places where most bullying incidents occur. These two areas are

largely unstructured and the data shows that these places need to have adequate supervion by staff (Sharp & Smith, 1991). With adequate supervision bullying incidents can be minimized and then when they do occur, they can be dealt with quickly and properly.

Promotion of Assertiveness Skills

3. Some of the teaching staff who responded to this survey commented that they would encourage a passive victim of peer bullying to stick up for themselves. Encouraging the passive victim to be assertive and protect themselves is important in stopping the bullying from continuing. The researcher is not suggesting that the victim use physical means to protect themselves but there are many other ways for a victim to be assertive in bullying instances (example: Saying loudly "stop! I don't like what you are doing!" and Asking for help from a teacher). The results of this research showed that teaching staff have the opportunity to teach assertiveness skills to passive victims and this in turn will encourage the development of self-esteem and the discontinuance of future bullying for the victim.

Involvement of Parents

4. A majority of teaching staff said that they would not involve the parents of the bully and victim to resolve a bullying incident. Informing the parents as to the behavior of their children at school is not only a parent's right but is a way to build a link between the school and the home. Parents of the bully and victim can then reinforce the rules and procedures followed at school and teach their children the proper ways to deal with bullying.

Macro View

5. As was said throughout this paper, policies and programs that would reduce the bullying that may be happening in schools would need to be put in place at the local, state and national levels. This is a macro view of the reduction of peer bullying in a school. The implementation of bully proofing policies and procedures would give the individual school personnel guidelines to follow in reducing bullying behavior in their school.

Micro View

6. Individual teaching staff have an important role in the effective intervention of peer bullying. Teaching staff have the opportunity to observe bullying incidents and mediate bullying situations on a individual (micro) level. Research from this study showed that teaching staff have the skills needed to improve the assertiveness skills and self-esteem in passive victims of peer bullying. This one-to-one attention passive victims and bullies receive from teaching staff is the first intervention in the reduction of peer bullying in a school. The bully proofing policies and guidelines implemented on the macro level need to have the understanding and support of individual school personnel for the interventions to be effective.

Response Rate

The response rate for teaching staff who completed this survey was
 Readers need to be aware that because of the lower response rate, results of the survey are not representative of the teaching staff at this school and cannot be generalized to other schools (Rubin & Babbie, 1993).

The implications for teaching staff listed above are not exhaustive but they do list some of the primary suggestions the researcher has discovered from this study.

Implications for Social Work Practice

The role of social workers and other mental health staff have not been discussed in this paper. Even though the roles of mental health staff have not been discussed, there are still implications for these professionals in regards to supporting teaching staff and passive victims of peer bullying.

Outside Resourses

1. Mental health staff could be looked upon as outside resources for teaching staff. If teaching staff recognize that there are a group of children who continually get bullied, the mental health professionals could facilitate a self-esteem or assertiveness skills group for bullied children.

Teaching in Classrooms

2. Mental health staff could also be looked upon as professionals who come into individual classrooms and teach students appropriate ways to deal with bullying instances.

Recommendations for Future Research

The researcher's purpose for studying teaching staff's responses to passive victims of peer bullying was to: 1. add to the knowledge base concerning passive victims of peer bullying, 2. encourage teaching staff in what they are already doing in regards to encouraging passive victims and 3. gather information on how teaching staff work with passive victims.

Passive victims of peer bullying are children who generally don't draw attention to themselves but are significantly affected by the aggression they receive by their peers. For a school to significantly reduce the bullying that may be occuring, the researcher suggests the following recommendations:

Further Studies

1. Studies need to be carried out to increase teacher awareness and to find the exact number of children being bullied at a particular school. Interviews can be conducted or a questionnaire can be administered to both staff and students. The Peer Nomination Inventory, developed by Dan Olweus, would be an appropriate resource for gathering information from students.

Implementation of Training Programs

 A training program can then be presented to school personnel that would educate them on the most effective strategies used to work with bullies and victims. One resource is called, Bully-Proofing Your School: A Comprehensive Approach For Elementary Schools (Brody, J. E., 1996). Establishing Procedures, Interventions and Resources

3. Procedures, interventions and resources would need to be established in the school that would effectively deal with bullying incidents. These procedures and interventions would need to have the full support of school personnel to be effective in reducing bullying behavior at this school.

Effectiveness of Bullying Programs

4. After procedures, interventions and resources are put in place, studies would need to be conducted to test the effectiveness of the bullying programs.

Gender Differences

5. Gender differences in bullying behavior was touched on in the review of literature. It would be important for future researchers to study the differences in bullying behavior between boys and girls. There is also the possibility that the victim behavior between boys and girls may be

different. To the researcher's knowledge, gender differences in victim behavior has not been studied.

Follow-up Study

6. Future researchers who would find the topic of this paper interesting and would like to do more research would be wise to conduct a qualitative study. As was said in the review of literature, little research has been conducted concerning teaching staff's responses to passive victims of peer bullying. Because of this fact, qualitative research (example. personal interviews) would present results that would give a deeper understanding of the topic of this paper and more appropriate data for an exploratory study.

Many of the recommendations listed in the sections above have a prevention focus. Young children attending school are still forming some of the basic attitudes, values and behaviors that they will be carrying with them for the rest of their lives. Research shows that bullying can be reduced with the implementation of bullying programs. A key factor in the reduction of bullying in schools is the support of the school staff. It has been shown in this paper that teaching staff who completed the researcher's survey have the opportunity to impact the lives of passive victims of peer bullying. Passive victims are vulnerable children and the school environment can facilitate the opportunity for teaching staff to build the self-esteem and assertiveness skills in passive victims. With school personnel encouraging passive victims daily, supporting them in their school work and also their peer relationships resilient characteristics and a positive self-concept will be developed in these children. Passive victims of peer bullying who develop resilient characteristics and a positive self-concept have not only a better chance of enjoying school but have a better chance of becoming successful individuals.

APPENDIX A: Minneapolis Review Board Approval Letter

Minneapolis Public Schools Research, Evaluation and Assessment Memorandum			
То:	Kenneth Maher Kenny Elementary School		
From:	William L. Brown, Ph.D.		
Date:	01/04/96		
Subject:	Status of Research Request		
	ving is the status of your research request for <i>"Victims of Peer nd Teaching Staff's Responses to Them."</i>		
	uest is complete; permission is granted ase send us a copy of your results. Thank you!		
🗆 Res	earch [□ may □ may not] proceed, please remit:] Completed Research Request Form (see attached)		

- Copies of all research instruments
- □ Approval from your school's "Human Subjects" Committee
- Other: ______
- Other: _____
- **D** Request is denied (see attached)

NOTICE: The Board of Education **has not** granted blanket authority for the release of directory information to researchers. Directory information is defined by U. S. C. Title 20 Section 1232g, to include "the student's name, address, telephone listing, date and place of birth, major field of study, participation in officially recognized activities and sports, weight and height of members of athletic teams, dates of attendance, degrees and awards received, and the most recent previous educational agency or institution attended by the student." Requests for such information must be made to me or to Dennis Lander of the MPS Student Accounting Office, 807 NE Broadway, Minneapolis, MN 55413. We will take the steps required to obtain approval from the Minneapolis Public Schools Board of Education to release to you information needed to carry out your research.

CC: Executive Director, PASS

File

APPENDIX B: Augsburg IRB Approval Letter	AUGSBURG		
1/22/96	$\frac{1}{C \cdot O \cdot L \cdot L \cdot E \cdot G \cdot E}$		
TO: Kenneth E. Maher 4321 Portland Avenue South Minneapolis MN 55407 FROM: Rita Weisbrod, Ph.D.	in ba		
FROM: Rita Weisbrod, Ph.D. Chair Institutional Review Board	to Weenin		
RE: Your IRB application: "Victims of Peer Bullying and Teaching Staff's Responses to Them"			

Professor Michael Schock has sent on to me your approval letter from the Minneapolis Public Schools. Having fulfilled this condition, your application is now approved.

Your approval number is

95 - 30 -3. This number should appear on your cover letter and survey instrument.

If there are substantive changes to your project which change your procedures regarding the use of human subjects, you should report them to me by phone (612) 330-1227 or in writing so that they may be reviewed for possible increased risk.

I wish you well in your project!

Copy: Rosemary Link, Thesis Adviser

To: Kenny School Teaching Staff From: Larry Burgess Re: Survey Date: 2/1/96

I am writing to inform you of a survey that you will be receiving in your school mailboxes Monday February 5, 1996. This survey concerns teaching staff's responses to passive victims of peer bullying and will be conducted by Ken Maher, School Social Work Intern at Kenny School.

Ken has made known to me his intentions and reason for choosing Kenny School for this study. He has asked permission of myself to conduct this survey at Kenny School and I have given it to him.

I would encourage all of you to take a few minutes from your day and complete this survey. I believe that the results from this survey will add to the knowledge base concerning passive victims of peer bullying and how the teaching staff at various school can better meet the needs of these children.

This is a voluntary survey. Be assured that there will be no way that I or anybody else will be able to find out who completed a survey. Thank you for your time.

Sincerel arry Burgess

Principal Kenny School

Dear Kenny School Teaching Staff,

You are invited to be in a research survey of Teaching Staff at Kenny School. You were selected as a possible participant in this study because you have the most knowledge of students and the most contact with students during a school day. If you agree to participate, the attached questionnaire will take approximately 10 minutes to complete. Please take a few minutes to read this cover letter and consider being a part of this survey. This research project is being conducted by Ken Maher, and is a partial fulfillment of the requirements of the Augsburg College Masters in Social Work Program.

The purpose of this study is to learn more about teaching staff's responses to victims of peer bullying and what techniques teaching staff use to improve a victim's self-esteem and assertiveness skills. Your participation in this survey will contribute to the knowledge base already accumulated in this area and inform decisions on how teaching staff can better support victims of peer bullying.

Completion of the questionnaire is considered to be your consent to participate. When you have completed the questionnaire, please put it in the drop box by the mailboxes in the main office. Besides my deep gratitude, I will provide a written report of the findings to the Kenny teaching staff by Friday, June 7 1996. I will also present the findings of this project to the Kenny Staff if there is interest. This will not be a mandatory meeting, it will be for those interested in hearing the results of this project.

Anonymity will be maintained, neither administrators nor the researcher can identify who returned any given questionnaire. Any published research report will not include any information that will make it possible to identify participants. Research records will be kept in the home of the researcher, where only the researcher will have access to them. Your decision whether or not to participate in this study will not affect your standing with Kenny School, the Minneapolis Public Schools, Augsburg College or the researcher. If you decide to participate, you are free to withdraw at any time. You may decide to skip any question(s) on the questionnaire.

Please return the questionnaire by Friday, February 9 1996. If you have any questions, you may contact me at (612) 822-0321. My thesis advisor is Rosemary Link (Augsburg College, Department of Social Work) and she can be contacted at (612) 330-1147. Thank You.

Your help and support is much appreciated!

Sincerely

Ken Maher Graduate Student

Institutional Review Board Approval # 95 - 30 - 3.

Survey of Teaching Staff's Responses to

Children who are Passive Victims of Peer Bullying

To help you focus your thinking for this questionnaire, the following definition of "victim of peer bullying" will be used: A student is being bullied when he or she is exposed, repeatedly and over time, to negative actions on the part of one or more other students. A negative action is when someone intentionally inflicts, or attempts to inflict, injury or discomfort upon another. Negative actions can be carried out by physical contact (hitting, kicking, etc.), by words, or in other ways, such as making faces or obscene jestures, and intentional exclusion from a group. A victim may be physically weaker than the bully. A victim does not defend him/herself after being bullied. You may have seen two types of victims in your class: a passive victim (defined above) and a provocative victim. A provocative victim is a child that instigates confrontations with other children and does things that irritate them. In order to answer these questions, refer only to your experience with passive victims. Institutional Review Board Approval #95 - 30 - 3.

1. How do you find out that certain children are being bullied by peers in your classroom?

(Check all spaces that apply.)

- () You observe a child being bullied.
- () You hear about a child being bullied from other students.
- () You hear from a complaint of the parents of the victim.
- () The victim tells you he/she is being bullied.
- () Other. Please write down other ways you have found out.
- 2. If a bullying incident happens in your class, list in order of importance (only up to 3) what you

would do to resolve the incident. (1 being the most important)

- _____ Talk with the class about the rules on fighting. (Physically or verbally fighting)
- _____ Talk with the victim and bully individually.
- _____ Talk with the victim and bully together.
- Encourage the victim to stick up for themselves.
- _____ Report incident to the parents of the bully and victim.
- _____ Report incident to school social worker.
- _____ Send the bully to the principal.
- ____ Other. (Please specify below.)

3. Do you think that bullying is a form of play between children?

(Place an X in the space provided.) () yes () no

Please explain in one sentence or two why you chose your answer.

4. What types of characteristics do victims have that encourage bullies to pick on them?

(Check all that apply.)

- () Dirty clothes () Race
- () Over weight () Gender
- () Glasses
- () Physical handicaps
- () Seems anxious
- () Shy
- () Not applicable
- () Other (Please list)

5. How do victims of peer bullying act in your classroom? (Please write in the space below.)

6. Do you think that Kenny School has a problem with bullying? _____ yes _____ no

7. For classroom teachers. In your opinion, what number of children in your classroom are <u>bullied</u> by their peers? (Circle your answer.)

a. 0 - 2 b. 3 - 5 c. 6 - 8 d. 9 - 11 e. 12 or more f. Not a problem.

How many children are in your classroom?

8. For educational assistants. In your opinion, what number of children you work with during the day, are bullied? (Circle your answer.)

a. 0 - 2 b. 3 - 5 c. 6 - 8 d. 9 - 11 e. 12 or more f. Not a problem

How many children do you work with during an average day?

9. For specialists/support staff. In your opinion, what number of children you work with during the day, are bullied? (Circle your answer.)

a. 0 - 2 b. 3 - 5 c. 6 - 8 d. 9 - 11 e. 12 or more f. Not a problem

How many children do you work with during an average day?

10. Do you think that Kenny School has consistent policies in dealing with aggressive incidents that happen between peers? (Place an X in the space provided.) yes () no () If "no" what would you recommend Kenny School do differently?

11. What skills or techniques do you use to improve the self-esteem in passive victims of peer bullying? (Please write in the space provided.)

12. What skills or techniques do you use to improve the assertiveness skills (teaching a student to stand-up for him/herself) in passive victims of peer bullying? (Please write in the space provided.)

13. Bullying of children by their peers can lead to poor school performance and truancy.(Place an X in the space provided.)

strongly agree () agree () disagree () strongly disagree () don't know () (Please comment in the space below.)

14. Most bullying incidents happen at ... (Please mark your first two choices.) classroom () neighborhood () playground () bus () lunchroom () hallway ()

 15. Your teaching position in the school is: Classroom teacher _____ Specialist____

 Educational Assistant_____ Support staff _____

16. How many years have you been working with children, including this school year? ____

Thank you for your participation in this project!

REFERENCES

Batsche, G. M., & Knoff, H. M. (1994). Bullies and their victims:

Understanding a pervasive problem in the schools. <u>School Psychology Review</u>. <u>23</u>. 165-174.

Batsche, G. M., & Moore, B. (1994). Bullying. <u>National Association of School</u> <u>Psychologists</u>. 189-193.

Benard, B. (1993). Fostering resiliency in kids. <u>Educational Leadership.</u> November. 44-48.

Bjorkqvist, K., Ekman, K., & Lagerspetz, K. (1982). Bullies and victims: Their ego picture, ideal ego picture and normative ego picture. <u>Scandinavian Journal</u> <u>of Psychology</u>. <u>23</u>. 307-313.

Boulton, M. J., & Smith, P. K. (1994). Bully/victim problems in middle-school children: Stability, self-perceived competence, peer perceptions and peer acceptance. <u>British Journal of Developmental Psychology</u>. 12. 315-329.

Boulton, M. J., & Underwood, K. (1992). Bully/victim problems among middle school children. <u>British Journal of Educational Psychology</u>. <u>62</u>. 73-87.

Brody, J, E. (1996, April 8). Enlist 'silent majority' to fight bullying. <u>Post-</u> <u>Bulletin, p. 2D.</u>

Callaghan, S., & Joseph, S. (1985). Self-concept and peer victimization among schoolchildren. <u>Personality and Individual Differences.</u> 18. 161-163.

Comer, J. P., Haynes, N. M., Hamilton-Lee, M., Boger, J., & Rollock, D. (1987). Dimensions of children's self-concept as predictors of social competence. <u>Journal of Social Psychology</u>. 127. 321-329.

Floyd, N. M. (1985). "Pick on somebody your own size!": Controlling victimization. <u>The Pointer. 29.</u> 9-17.

Garmezy, N. (1991). Resiliency and vulnerability to adverse developmental outcomes associated with poverty. <u>American Behavioral Scientist. 34.</u> 421-429.

Hoover, J., & Hazler, R. J. (1991). Bullies and victims. <u>Elementary School</u> <u>Guidance & Counseling</u>. 25. 212-219.

Hoover, J. H., Oliver, R., & Hazler, R. J. (1992). Bullying: Perceptions of adolescent victims in the midwestern USA. <u>School Psychology International</u>. <u>13</u>. 5-16.

Lagerspetz, K. M. J., Bjorkqvist, K., Berts, M., & King, E. (1982). Group aggression among school children in three schools. <u>Scandanavian Journal of Psychology</u>. <u>23</u>. 45-52.

Lowenstein, L. F. (1978). Who is the bully? <u>Bulletin of British Psychological</u> <u>Society</u>. <u>31</u>. 147-149.

Mastin, A. S., Best, K. M., & Garmezy, N. (1990). Resilience and development: Contributions from the study of children who overcome adversity. <u>Development and Psychopathology</u>. 2, 425-441.

Moran, S., Smith, P. K., Thompson, D., & Whitney, I. (1993). Ethnic differences in experiences of bullying: Asian and white children. <u>British Journal</u> of Educational Psychology. 63. 431-440.

Moskovitz, S. (1983). Love Despite Hate: Child Survivors of the Holocaust and Their Adult Lives. New York: Schocken.

Neary, A. & Joseph, S. (1994). Peer victimization and its relationship to selfconcept and depression among schoolgirls. <u>Personality and Individual</u>

Differences. 16. 183-186.

Oliver, R., Oaks, I. N., & Hoover, J. H. (1994). Family issues and interventions in bully and victim relationships. <u>The School Counselor</u>. <u>41</u>. 199-202.

Olweus, D. (1977). Aggression and peer acceptance in adolescent boys; two short-term longitudinal studies of ratings. <u>Child Development</u>. <u>48</u>. 1301-1313.

Olweus, D. (1978). <u>Aggression in the schools: bullies and whipping boys</u>. Washington, D.C. : Hemisphere Press.

Olweus, D. (1991). Bully/victim problems among schoolchildren: Basic facts and effects of a school based intervention program. In D. Pepler & K. Rubin (Eds), <u>The Development and Treatment of Childhood Aggression</u>. Hillsdale, N.J. :Erlbaum.

Olweus, D. (1993). Victimization by peers: Antecedents and long-term outcomes. In K.H. Rubin & J.B. Asenforf (Eds), <u>Social Withdrawl, Inhibition,</u> <u>Shyness in Childhood</u>. Hillsdale, N.J.: Erlbaum.

Olweus, D. (1994). Annotation: Bullying at school: Basic facts and effects of a school based intervention program. <u>Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry</u>. <u>35</u>. 1171-1190.

O'Moore, A. M. (1988). (Council of Europe Report, DECS-EGT (88) %-E) Strasbourg: Council for Cultural Co-operation.

Osborn, A. F. (1990). Resilient children: A longitudinal study of high achieving socially disadvantaged children. <u>Early Child Development and Care.</u> 62. 23-47.

Perry, D., G., Kusel, S., J., & Perry, L., C. (1988). Victims of peer aggression. <u>Developmental Psychology</u>. <u>24</u>. 807-814.

Radke-Yarrow, M., & Brown, E. (1993). Resilience and vulnerability in children of multiple-risk families. <u>Development and Psychopathology. 5.</u> 581-592.

Reid, K. (1984). "Disruptive Behavior and Persistent School Absenteeism". <u>Disruptive Behavior in Schools</u>, edited by N. Frude and H. Gault. Chinhester: Wiley. Roland, E. (1983). Strategi mot mobbing. Stavanger: Universitetsforlag.

Rubin, A., & Babbie, E. (1993). <u>Research Methods for Social Work.</u> CA: Brooks/Cole.

Sharp, S., & Smith, P. K. (1991). Bullying in UK schools: The DES sheffield bullying project. <u>Early Child Development and Care. 77.</u> 47-55.

Siann, G., Callaghan, M, Lockhart, R. & Rawson, L. (1993). Bullying:

Teachers' views and school effects. <u>Educational Studies. 19.</u> 307-321. Stephenson, P., & Smith, D. (1987). Anatomy of a playground bully.

Education. September. 236-237.

Stephenson, P., & Smith, D. (1988). Bullying in the junior school. D.P. Tattum & D.A. Lane (Eds.). <u>Bullying in Schools</u>. Stoke-on-Trent:Trentham Books.

Tarwater, P. (1993). Glass, plastic or steel. <u>Childhood Education</u>. Annual Theme Issue. 272-273.

Tizard, B., Blatchford, P., Burke, J., Farquhar, C., & Plewis, I. (1988). Young Children at School in the Inner City. Hove: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.

Tredinnick, L. C. (1993). The effect of well-being groups. <u>School Social Work</u> Journal. 17, 22-30.

Warger, C. L., & Kleman, D. (1986). Developing positive self-concepts in institutionalized children with severe behavior disorders. <u>Child Welfare. 23.</u> 165-176.

Werner, E. E. (1984). Resilient children. <u>Young Children.</u> November. 68-72.

Werner, E. E. (1990). "Protective factors and individual resilience." <u>Handbook of Early Childhood Intervention.</u> S. Meisels & J. Shonkoff. New York: Cambridge University.

Whitney, I. & Smith, P. (1993). A survey of the nature and extent of bullying in junior/middle and secondary schools. <u>Educational Research</u>. <u>35.</u> 3-25.

Wyman, P. A., Cowen, E. L., Work, W. C., & Kerley, J. H. (1993). The role of children's future expectations in self-system functioning and adjustment to life stress: A prospective study of urban at-risk children. <u>Development and</u> <u>Psychopathology. 5.</u> 649-661.

Ziller, R. C., & Stewart-Dowdell, B. J. (1991). Life after parental death: Monitoring a child's self-concept before and after family violence. <u>Death</u> <u>Studies. 15.</u> 577-586.